ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

OCT 02 2015

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Union County

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LASHAD DEMOND BREWTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000880

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TIFFANY L. BUTLER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the scale and money found during a search of the vehicle that Appellant was driving and a search of Appellant and his two co-defendants, where police had no reasonable suspicion to stop the vehicle?

- II. Did the trial judge err by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the scale and money found during the search of the vehicle that Appellant was driving and a search of Appellant and his two co-defendants, where police had no probable cause to believe that the vehicle contained evidence of criminal activity and there were no exigent circumstances to justify the search without a warrant?

- III. Did the trial judge err by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the drugs found in Corporal Vinson's patrol car, where there was an incomplete chain of custody because the officer attached an affidavit to the drugs sent to SLED, which falsely stated where the drugs had been recovered?

- IV. Did the trial judge err by denying defense counsel's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal, where there was no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant had actual or constructive possession of the drugs found in Corporal Vinson's patrol car or that Appellant had knowledge that drugs were in the black Ford Expedition that Appellant was driving but did not own?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 26, 2010, the Union County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for trafficking in more than ten but less than twenty-eight grams of crack cocaine. R.602 On December 6, 2011, Appellant and two co-defendants, Randy Crosby and Roderick Pope, proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III. and a jury. R. vol. 1, 1. Joe St. Pierre represented Appellant. Dan Hall and Mark McKinnon represented Crosby, while Doug Brannon represented Pope. John Anthony represented the State. R. vol. 1, 1.

After a three day trial, Appellant and his co-defendants were found guilty of the lesser-included offense of possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine. R. vol. 3, 583. Judge Hayes sentenced Appellant to ten years' imprisonment suspended to thirty months active time and five years of probation. R. vol. 3, 589.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the scale and money found during a search of the vehicle that Appellant was driving and a search of Appellant and his two co-defendants, where police had no reasonable suspicion to stop the vehicle.

Relevant Facts

On June 24, 2010, Lieutenant John Sherfield of the Union County Sheriff's Department arrested Vincent Harris for selling crack cocaine to a confidential informant. R. vol. 1, 50, lines 1-25. While at the jail waiting to be booked in, Harris asked Sergeant James Johnson, who was also at the jail, if there was anything Harris could do to get out of jail on bond because he had to work the next day. R. vol. 1, 50, lines 1 – 25. Sgt. Johnson responded that Harris would have to help himself. Harris then offered to have his alleged drug supplier, Pope, bring drugs from Spartanburg County to Union. R. vol. 1, 50, lines 1 – 25.

After allowing Harris to use his cell phone to contact Pope, Sgt. Johnson contacted Lt. Sherfield and informed him of Harris' arrangement with Pope to have Pope meet him at the Aunt M's Store in Union with the drugs. R. vol. 1, 51 – 52. Sherfield contacted other officers of the Sheriff's Department and arranged for several unmarked police cars to be stationed along Highway 176, which Pope used to drive from Spartanburg to Union. R. vol. 1, 52, lines 16 – 23. Uniformed deputies in marked patrol cars were stationed on side roads to be out of view of any drivers on Highway 176. R. vol. 1, 52, lines 16 – 23.

Harris informed Sgt. Johnson that Pope would be driving a black Ford Expedition. R. vol. 1, 52, lines 8 – 12. After Pope allegedly told Harris that he was driving by the Lighthouse Fish Camp and heading into Union, Harris informed Sgt. Johnson. R. vol. 1, 53, lines 3 – 18. Johnson then notified Sgt. Sherfield, who was stationed on Highway 176 along with other officers. R. vol. 1,

53, lines 3 – 18. Sheriff David Taylor and Captain James McNeil were also parked on the highway. According to Lt. Sherfield, Captain McNeil informed the officers that he spotted the Ford Expedition at the restaurant. R. vol. 1, 53, lines 15 – 18.

Once the Expedition drove into Union County, Sheriff Taylor activated his blue lights and initiated the traffic stop. R. vol. 1, 54, lines 3 – 6. Lt. Sherfield and Captain McNeil followed Sheriff Taylor. R. vol. 1, 54, lines 3 – 6. The Expedition pulled over into the median. Appellant was the driver, Pope was in the front passenger seat, and Crosby was in the right rear seat. Lt. Sherfield approached the driver side and ordered Appellant to get out. R. vol. 1, 54 – 55. After briefly speaking to Appellant, Sherfield handcuffed him and told him he was being “detained.” R. vol. 1, 55, lines 18 – 20. Pope and Crosby were also ordered to get out of the vehicle. R. vol. 1, 55, lines 22 – 23. Sherfield searched the vehicle and found a digital scale with white residue on it under the seat where Crosby was sitting. Sherfield admitted that he did not have consent to search the Expedition. R. vol. 1, 55, lines 23 – 25.

Sherfield field tested the white residue, which tested positive for cocaine. R. vol. 1, 56, lines 7 – 13. Appellant, Pope, and Crosby were placed under arrest for possession of cocaine. R. vol. 1, 56, lines 17 – 18. Lt. Sherfield searched Appellant’s person and seized \$280 and a cell phone. Pope did not have any money on his person, while Crosby had \$570 seized from his person. R. vol. 1, 56, line 21 – R. vol. 1, 57, line 6. Officers searched the vehicle, but no drugs or weapons were found. There were no drugs found on either defendant. R. vol. 1, 57, lines 7 – 9.

After being placed under arrest for the suspected cocaine residue found on the scale, Appellant and Crosby were placed in Corporal Vinson’s patrol vehicle and transported to the Union County Jail. Pope was placed in another police car. R. vol. 2, 159, lines 3 – 8. Vinson claimed that after removing Appellant and Crosby from his vehicle, he searched under the back seat and located

a plastic bag containing a quantity of suspected crack cocaine where Appellant and Crosby were sitting. R. vol. 2, 344, lines 10 – 19. SLED analyzed the substance and concluded it was in fact crack cocaine and weighed 11.5 grams. R. vol. 3, 431, lines 7 – 10. The white residue on the scale, field tested as cocaine, was not submitted to SLED for testing. R. vol. 1, 88, lines 7 – 9.

Lt. Sherfield admitted that he had never met Harris prior to his arrest on June 24, 2010. R. vol. 1, 79, lines 5 – 7. He did not know where Harris lived, nor did he know where Harris worked. Harris had never been used as an informant for the Sheriff's Office. R. vol. 1, 81, lines 12 – 20. The phone calls that allegedly occurred between Harris and Pope were not recorded. R. vol. 1, 84, lines 11 – 13. Officers made no attempt to investigate Harris or the information he provided alleging Pope was his supplier. R. vol. 1, 104 – 105.

Lt. Sherfield also conceded that he had no idea how many people would be in the vehicle and when the Sheriff Taylor initiated the stop by activating his blue lights, the vehicle did not speed up or attempt to flee. R. vol. 1, 85, lines 1 – 3. Sherfield acknowledged that the stop and subsequent arrest was made in a low crime area during daylight hours. R. vol. 1, 85, lines 12 – 21. He admitted that neither defendant acted nervous or exhibited evasive behavior. R. vol. 1, 86, lines 12 – 18. The occupants of the vehicle made no attempt to flee from officers. R. vol. 1, 86, lines 22 – 24.

Sgt. Johnson admitted that he only heard Harris' part of the alleged conversation between Harris and Pope. R. vol. 1, 142, lines 7 – 13. Johnson did not know whether Pope was actually the person calling Harris' phone. R. vol. 1, 142, lines 7 – 13. Like Lt. Sherfield, Johnson did not know anything about Harris and had not met Harris before his arrest on June 24, 2010. R. vol. 1, 141, lines 17 – 24. Neither officer verified the information on the license plate of the Ford Expedition. R. vol. 2, 338, lines 1 – 14.

Further, neither officer could recall whether guns were drawn on the Ford. However, Captain McNeil admitted that “it very well could’ve been.” R. vol. 1, 152, line 1. Captain McNeil also stated that he was actually at the intersection of Highway 150 and Highway 176 in Spartanburg County, which was “probably a mile” away from the Lighthouse Fish Camp. R. vol. 2, 337, lines 7 – 14. He admitted that he never saw a black Ford Expedition pass the restaurant. R. vol. 2, 337, lines 7 – 14.

Motion to Suppress

Prior to trial, defense counsel for Appellant moved to suppress the scale found in the Ford Expedition, money found on Appellant and Crosby, and the drugs found in Corporal Vinson’s patrol car. R. vol. 1, 45. Counsel for co-defendants Roderick Pope and Randy Crosby also joined in the motion to suppress. R. vol. 1, 43.

Defense counsel for Appellant argued that there was no “reasonable suspicion” to stop the black Ford Expedition, no “probable cause” to search the vehicle, and no probable cause to arrest the defendants. R. vol. 1, 158, lines 1 – 25. Counsel explained that there “may have been guns drawn on the defendants right at the moment of the stop” and the police “immediately pulled [Appellant] and the other two de-defendants out of the vehicle and handcuffed them.” R. vol. 1, 158, lines 1 – 25. Counsel expounded on the fact that there was no search warrant for the vehicle and the police “didn’t even ask for consent to search.” R. vol. 1, 159, lines 1 – 13.

Defense counsel also argued that the police did not determine the “credibility and the veracity of . . . Harris,” which is a factor in determining whether reasonable suspicion existed. R. vol. 1, 159, lines 11 – 19. Counsel explained that the digital scale and the money found on Appellant and Crosby are all “fruit of the poisonous tree” because of the arrest that was “unlawful and violative (sic) of the fourth amendment.” R.. vol. 1, 160, lines 1 – 11.

Judge Hayes denied counsel's motion. The trial judge acknowledged that "the ice here is thin," but it was "thick enough to support the arrest, the stop first, then the search, then the arrest." R. vol. 2, 192, lines 10 – 14. The judge also acknowledged that Harris' "reliability [had] not been established." R. vol. 2, 193, lines 1 – 3. In looking at the totality of the circumstances, the judge determined that because Harris told the police he had been contacted by someone, the vehicle in question was passing the Lighthouse Fish Camp, and Captain McNeil confirmed that the vehicle matching Harris' description passed the Lighthouse, that was enough to create probable cause for the stop. R. vol. 2, 193, lines 3 – 25.

The trial judge also found that Appellant and his co-defendants were not arrested, but were detained when they were taken out of the car and handcuffed. R. vol. 2, 194, lines 2 – 4. The judge considered the validity of the search was determined by whether or not the automobile exception applied. R. vol. 2, 194, lines 9 – 14. He determined that because of the "exigency of the circumstances," the police had probable cause to stop the Ford Expedition. R. vol. 2, 194, lines 15 – 24.

Captain McNeil did not testify during the suppression hearing. However, during his trial testimony, McNeil admitted that he did not see the vehicle and was actually a mile away, at the intersection of Highway 150 and Highway 176. R. Vol. 2, 337. Counsel for all three defendants renewed their motion to suppress based on this testimony, which differed from Sherfield's account of the traffic stop during the suppression hearing. R. Vol. 2, 362. Again, Judge Hayes denied the motion to suppress.

Discussion

The trial judge erred by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the scale and money found during a search of the vehicle that Appellant was driving and a search of Appellant and his two co-defendants. The police had no reasonable suspicion to stop the vehicle. The stop was based on information given to police by an unreliable drug dealer whose information was not corroborated by officers. The drug dealer only offered the information to get a lower bond to get out of jail

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution ensures "the right of the people to be secure. . . [from] unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV. The "temporary detention" of individuals during an automobile stop by police constitute a "seizure" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 809 (1996). Generally, "the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred." State v. Butler, 343 S.C. 198, 201, 539 S.E.2d 414, 416 (Ct. App. 2000). However, if an officer has reasonable suspicion that the occupants of an automobile are involved in criminal activity, the officer may stop and briefly detain them. Id.; Knight v. State, 325 S.E.2d 535 (1985). See also State v. Nelson, 336 S.C. 186, 192, 519 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1999) (quoting Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 439 (1984)) ("[A] policeman who lacks probable cause but whose observations lead him reasonably to suspect that a particular person has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime, may detain that person briefly in order to investigate the circumstances that provoke that suspicion.").

Reasonable suspicion requires "a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity." United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981); State v. Lesley, 486 S.E.2d 276 (Ct. App. 1997). A court must consider "the totality of the circumstances – the whole picture" when determining whether reasonable suspicion exists. Cortez, 449 U.S. at 417.

See State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 546, 544 S.E.2d 290, 295 (Ct. App. 2001) (“The term ‘reasonable suspicion’ requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity. In determining whether reasonable suspicion exists, the whole picture must be considered.”). Reasonable suspicion “entails. . . something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or ‘hunch,’ but less than the level of suspicion required for probable cause” Butler, 343 S.C. at 202, 539 S.E.2d at 416.

Here, officers had no reasonable suspicion to stop the defendant’s vehicle. Officers had never met or heard of Harris. Officers conducted no investigation to determine whether Harris’ allegation that Pope was a drug supplier was true and reliable. Each officer that testified admitted that Highway 176 was not a high crime area and the stop occurred during daylight hours. There was no testimony of any traffic violations and no citations were given to Appellant, the driver.

Appellant did not try to flee once the blue lights were initiated. Appellant and his co-defendants did not exhibit any evasive behavior or gave any indication that they were engaged in any criminal activity.

Other than the claim made by an unreliable drug dealer with a motive to get out of jail, there was absolutely no evidence that Appellant and his co-defendants had committed or were about to commit a crime. See Butler, 343 S.C. at 202, 539 S.E.2d at 416 (“The burden is on the State to articulate facts sufficient to support reasonable suspicion to stop an automobile.”).

II. The trial judge erred by denying defense counsel's motion to suppress the scale and money found during the search of the vehicle that Appellant was driving and a search of Appellant and his two co-defendants, where police had no probable cause to believe that the vehicle contained evidence of criminal activity and there were no exigent circumstances to justify the search without a warrant.

Relevant Facts

See Relevant Facts, supra.

Discussion

“[S]earches conducted outside the judicial process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment – subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions.” Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967); State v. Bailey, 274 S.E.2d 913 (1981). The automobile exception to the search warrant requirement allows police officers to conduct a warrantless search of an automobile when the officers have probable cause to believe the automobile contains evidence of criminal activity. Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132, 153 (1925). The bases for the exception are (1) the ready mobility of automobiles and the potential that evidence may be lost or destroyed before a warrant is obtained and (2) the lessened expectation of privacy in motor vehicles which are subject to government regulation. State v. Cox, 290 S.C. 489, 491, 351 S.E.2d 570, 571 (1986); State v. Peters, 271 S.C. 498, 501, 248 S.E.2d 475, 477 (1978).

“[U]nder the automobile exception, probable cause alone is sufficient to justify a warrantless search.” Id. at 492, 351 S.E.2d at 571-72. There is no separate exigency requirement. Maryland v. Dyson, 527 U.S. 465, 467 (1999). The standard for probable cause to conduct a warrantless search of an automobile is “no less stringent” than the standard for obtaining a warrant. Peters, 271 S.C. at

502, 248 S.E.2d at 477. Probable cause requires “a justifiable determination, based upon the totality of the circumstances and in view of all the evidence available to law enforcement officials at the time of the search, that there exists a practical, nontechnical probability that a crime is being committed or has been committed and incriminating evidence is involved.” State v. Bultron, 318 S.C. 323, 332, 457 S.E.2d 616, 621 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing State v. Adams, 291 S.C. 132, 352 S.E.2d 483 (1987)).

In State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 649 S.E.2d 479 (2007), the S.C. Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether probable cause supported a warrantless search of an automobile. In Weaver, officers developed the defendant as a murder suspect at the scene of the crime. Officers learned that the defendant had been driving a green Jeep around the time of the murder. Id. at 320, 649 S.E.2d at 482. When officers located the Jeep, it smelled of bleach and the interior was wet. The Court concluded that to the officers, it seemed apparent there had been an attempt to destroy evidence in the Jeep. Id. Because the Jeep was connected to the suspect and the murder investigation led officers to the fact that evidence may be found in the Jeep, the Court found that there was probable cause to search without warrant. Id.

To determine whether probable cause existed as a result of information given to law enforcement from a confidential informant, the reliability and credibility of the confidential informant need to be examined. Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 230 – 235 (1983); State v. Johnson, 302 S.C. 243, 247 – 248, 395 S.E.2d 167, 169 – 170 (1990). No one factor is necessary or sufficient to establish probable cause. Rather, probable cause is determined by the totality of the circumstances where “[a] deficiency in one [factor] may be compensated for, in determining the overall reliability of a tip, by a strong showing as to the other, or by some other indicia of reliability.” Gates, 462 U.S. at 230 – 235.

Specifically,

“[i]f, for example, a particular informant is known for the unusual reliability of his predictions of certain types of criminal activities in a locality, his failure, in a particular case, to thoroughly set forth the basis of his knowledge surely should not serve as an absolute bar to a finding of probable cause based on his tip. . . . Likewise, if an unquestionably honest citizen comes forward with a report of criminal activity – which if fabricated would subject him to criminal liability – we have found rigorous scrutiny of the basis of his knowledge unnecessary. . . . Conversely, even if we entertain some doubt as to an informant’s motives, his explicit and detailed description of alleged wrongdoing, along with a statement that the event was observed firsthand, entitles his tip to greater weight than might otherwise be the case.”

Id.

Here, officers had no probable cause to believe that the Ford Expedition contained any evidence of criminal activity. Officers failed to investigate and confirm Harris’ assertion that Pope was his drug supplier and that Pope would meet Harris to deliver drugs. Appellant and his co-defendants did not exhibit evasive behavior or try to flee from police. Captain McNeil even admitted that Appellant was willing to talk to him when he was ordered out of the car. Instead of confirming Harris’ allegation that Pope was transporting drugs from Spartanburg to Union, officers took his word and immediately handcuffed Appellant, Crosby, and Pope and searched the vehicle.

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