ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

SEP 15 2015
Appeal from Union County
Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-000880
Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

LASHAD DEMOND BREWTON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway
Moss Justice Center
York, South Carolina 29745
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Union County

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

deficiency in one may be compensated for, in determining the overall reliability of a tip, by a strong showing as to the other, or by some other indicia of reliability.”); see generally State v. Taylor, 401 S.C. 104, 108, 736 S.E.2d 663, 665 (2013) (“The required reasonable suspicion can arise from an anonymous tip provided that the totality of the surrounding circumstances justifies acting on the tip.”).

However, beyond the inherent reliability of Harris’s information under the circumstances, the reasonableness of the officers’ actions in conducting the investigatory stop and search was established by the officers’ corroboration of significant aspects of the information provided by Harris **before** they acted on that information. Critically, prior to the stop, Harris informed the officers his narcotics supplier would be travelling in a black Ford Expedition on Highway 176 and would be coming into Union County towards a convenience store located off the highway. Thereafter, as the officers waited along the highway for the described vehicle to arrive, Harris informed the officers his narcotics supplier had just driven past the Lighthouse Fish Camp. Moments later, the officers observed a black Ford Expedition driving into Union County along Highway 176 approximately a mile to a mile and half after it would have passed the Lighthouse Fish Camp and only a few miles away from the location where Harris arranged to meet Pope. Thus, before initiating the investigatory stop of the black Ford Expedition, the officers verified the vehicle matched the description of the make, model, and color of the vehicle identified by Harris, it was travelling towards the location where a narcotics supplier was supposed to meet Harris, and it had recently driven by a specific location on the highway the narcotics supplier reported he had just passed. See Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 332 (1990) (“Because only a small number of people are generally privy to an individual’s itinerary, it is reasonable for police to believe that a person with access to

such information is likely to also have access to reliable information about that individual's illegal activities."); see also Gates, 462 U.S. at 244-245 ("It is enough, for purposes of assessing probable cause, that 'corroboration through other sources of information reduced the chances of a reckless or prevaricating tale,' thus providing 'a substantial basis for crediting the hearsay.'" (citation omitted)). Because the officers were able to corroborate those substantial details, including the information regarding the black Ford Expedition's precise location at a specific time, it was entirely reasonable for the officers to believe Harris was also correct when he indicated Appellant was involved in criminal activity and crack cocaine would be found in the black Ford Expedition. See White, 496 U.S. at 331 ("[B]ecause an informant is shown to be right about some things, he is probably right about other facts that he has alleged, including the claim that the object of the tip is engaged in criminal activity."); see also State v. Martinez, 150 N.C. App. 364, 369, 562 S.E.2d 914, 917 (N.C. Ct. App. 2002) ("Although Goff was not a known informant, the officers independently verified the information that he provided to them. Based on Goff's information and the officers' independent verification of that information, the officers had probable cause to believe that defendant and Zavala were committing a felony in their presence."); see generally Gates, 462 U.S. at 241 ("Our decisions applying the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis . . . have consistently recognized the value of corroboration of details of an informant's tip by independent police work."). As a result, the investigatory stop and search were entirely reasonable under the circumstances. See Pope, 410 S.C. at 226, 763 S.E.2d at 821 ("[T]he trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress the evidence seized during the search of the vehicle because law enforcement had probable cause to believe the vehicle contained evidence of criminal activity.").

However, further supporting the reasonableness of the search, the officers continued to corroborate the information provided by Harris after initiating the stop but before conducting the search. Specifically, upon approaching the black Ford Expedition, the officers saw multiple people inside of the vehicle just as Harris had reported and observed Pope with a cell phone in his hand, which was entirely consistent with the fact Pope was speaking to Harris on the phone shortly before the stop was initiated. See United States v. Draper, 358 U.S. 307, 313-314 (1959) (“Marsh[, the narcotics agent,] had personally verified every fact of the information given him by Hereford[, the informant,] except whether the petitioner had accomplished his mission and had three ounces of heroin on his person or in his bag. And surely, with every other bit of Hereford’s information being thus personally verified, March had ‘reasonable grounds’ to believe that the remaining unverified bit of Hereford’s information – that Draper would have the heroin with him – was likewise true. . . . [U]nder the facts and circumstances here, Marsh had probable cause and reasonable grounds to believe that petitioner was committing a violation of the laws of the United States relating to narcotic drugs at the time he arrested him.”). Thus, the corroboration of the significant details of the information provided by Harris after Harris identified Pope as his narcotics supplier gave the officers a probable cause basis to believe crack cocaine would be located in the black Ford Expedition being driven by Appellant. See Harris, 403 U.S. at 583-584 (finding an admission by an informant of involvement in a crime is “sufficient at least to support a finding of probable cause to search”); see also State v. Foreshaw, 245 N.J. Super. 166, 175, 584 A.2d 832, 836 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1991) (“After receiving the informer’s tip, the officers properly corroborated the data provided. Just as the informer had predicted, the officers observed a silver-gray Eldorado bearing New Jersey license plates

traveling southbound on the Turnpike. Inside the vehicle were two males and a female. As was also foretold, the vehicle exited the highway at Exit 4 and headed towards Camden. Once the officers established that the informant had been correct, they had probable cause to believe that defendants' car contained contraband and as such properly stopped and searched the vehicle.”); Lopez, 292 Ga. App. at 522, 664 S.E.2d at 869 (“Here the informant told police in advance the make, approximate model year, and color of the car the supplier would be driving, the location at which the car would be arriving, the gender of the supplier who would be driving the vehicle, and the time of the vehicle's arrival (the supplier would arrive within moments after the informant received the phone call). Police were able to personally witness and corroborate each of these details, which lent credibility to the informant's claim that the supplier was bringing drugs to the location.”). Under those circumstances, the officers' decisions to stop and search the vehicle were entirely reasonable and were supported by both reasonable suspicion and probable cause.

In light of the fact the officers corroborated the information provided to them by an informant who could be held responsible if he was found to have given them false information, the officers were in possession of sufficient facts to establish reasonable suspicion and probable cause, which justified the investigatory stop and search of the black Ford Expedition. Compare State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 535-536, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682-683 (Ct. App. 2006) (finding an investigatory stop was supported by reasonable suspicion where “the officer received the information from a known, accountable informant whose reputation could be assessed and who explained how he knew about the planned robbery, thereby supplying a basis, outside of his already proven reliability for [the officer] to believe the confidential informant had inside information on the

matter.”); with State v. Green, 341 S.C. 214, 218, 532 S.E.2d 896, 898 (Ct. App. 2000) (finding an investigatory stop was not supported by reasonable suspicion where “[t]he only information available to the officer was the statement of an unknown, unaccountable informant who neither explained how he knew about the money and narcotics, nor supplied any basis for the officer to believe he had inside information about Green”). Critically, just as this Court concluded in Pope, the officers’ decision to conduct the stop in Appellant’s case was entirely reasonable and did not violate Appellant’s constitutional rights even though the officers were not able to verify Appellant and the others were in possession of crack cocaine until after the stop was conducted. See Pope, 410 S.C. at 225, 763 S.E.2d at 820 (concluding the stop of the black Ford Expedition was proper and constitutional); cf. White, 496 U.S. at 331 (finding an investigatory stop was constitutionally permissible based on the officers’ corroboration of several pieces of information provided by an anonymous caller even though the officers did not verify the reported name of the woman who got into the vehicle, did not verify the reported apartment number from which the woman left, and did not allow the woman to reach her reported destination prior to conducting the stop). Likewise, just as this Court concluded in Pope, the officers’ decision to search the vehicle in the case at bar was reasonable and supported by probable cause based on the officers’ corroboration of the information provided by Harris in regard to his crack cocaine supplier. See Pope, 410 S.C. at 226, 763 S.E.2d at 821 (concluding the search of the black Ford Expedition was proper and constitutional); see also Blich, 323 Ga. App. at 679-680, 747 S.E.2d at 866 (holding officers had probable cause to search Blich’s vehicle after an informant identified Blich as his cocaine supplier and arranged a drug transaction with Blich and then the officers observed Blich arrive at the location where the transaction was supposed to take place

around the time it was supposed to take place in a vehicle matching the description of the one he was supposed to be driving); see also Gates, 462 U.S. at 246 (“[P]robable cause does not demand the certainty we associate with formal trials.”). Because the investigatory stop and search were entirely reasonable, the trial judge properly denied Appellant’s suppression motion, and his ruling was fully supported by the evidence presented during trial. See State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977) (“It is only unreasonable searches and seizures that are prohibited.”); see also State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (“When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

II.

Just as this Court concluded in Appellant's co-defendant's appeal, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's suppression motion based on an allegedly insufficient chain of custody in regard to the crack cocaine because testimony was presented establishing the identity of each person who was in custody of the crack cocaine along with what was done with the crack cocaine leading up to the analysis conducted at S.L.E.D.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting the crack cocaine into evidence during trial. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the chain of custody regarding the crack cocaine was incomplete because an officer listed incorrect information on a chain of custody affidavit. However, just as this Court previously determined in Pope, the testimony presented during trial established the identity of each person who was in custody of the crack cocaine along with what was done with it prior to the analysis of the crack cocaine at S.L.E.D.⁸ Accordingly, a complete chain of custody was established in regard to the crack cocaine, and the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the crack cocaine into evidence during trial. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The reception or exclusion of evidence is a matter left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 190-191, 262 S.E.2d 31, 32 (1980). On appeal, appellate courts give "great deference" to trial judges when reviewing evidentiary rulings. State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010); see State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 556, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010) ("[D]eference is due to the trial court's admission of the evidence."). Moreover, an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's decision to admit or exclude evidence absent a clear prejudicial abuse of the

⁸ Once again, Appellant inexplicably failed to make any reference in his initial brief to this Court's decision in Pope even though that decision had been issued long before he filed his initial brief.

trial judge's broad discretion in evidentiary matters. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006) ("The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice."); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) ("A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice."). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

ANALYSIS

"The 'chain of custody' rule is but a variation of the principle that real evidence must be authenticated prior to its admission into evidence." United States v. Howard-Arias, 679 F.2d 363, 366 (4th Cir. 1982). "The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be." State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 95, 708 S.E.2d 750, 755 (2011); see Howard-Arias, 679 F.2d at 366 ("The purpose of this threshold requirement is to establish that the item to be introduced, i.e., marijuana, is what it purports to be, i.e., marijuana seized from the 'Don Frank.'"). Notably, "[c]ourts have abandoned inflexible rules regarding the chain of custody and the admissibility of evidence in favor of a rule granting discretion to the trial courts." Hatcher, 392 S.C. at 94, 708 S.E.2d at 754.

When a party seeks to admit fungible evidence like drugs or a blood sample during trial, a complete chain of custody must be established as far as practicable. State v. Governor, 362 S.C. 609, 612, 608 S.E.2d 474, 475 (Ct. App. 2005); see Hatcher, 392

S.C. at 95, 708 S.E.2d at 755 (“The State need not establish the identity of every person handling fungible items in all circumstances; rather, the standard is whether, in the discretion of the trial judge, the State has established the chain of custody as far as practicable.”). However, the proof of the chain of custody need **not** exclude every possibility of tampering. State v. Smith, 326 S.C. 39, 41, 482 S.E.2d 777, 778 (1997); see State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 187, 603 S.E.2d 910, 915 (Ct. App. 2004) (“South Carolina law does not require testimony as to the exclusion of any possibility of tampering.”). Instead, in order to satisfy the requirements for establishing the chain of custody, the evidence and testimony presented during trial must simply not leave to conjecture who was in possession of the fungible item and what was done with it between its seizure and analysis. State v. Johnson, 318 S.C. 194, 196, 456 S.E.2d 442, 443 (Ct. App. 1995). “[I]f the identity of each person handling the evidence is established, and the manner of handling is reasonably demonstrated, no abuse of discretion by the trial court is shown in admitting the evidence absent proof of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive.” State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 6, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205-206 (2007). Furthermore, “where there is a weak link in the chain of custody, as opposed to a missing link, the question is only one of credibility and not admissibility.” State v. Carter, 344 S.C. 419, 424, 544 S.E.2d 835, 837 (2001).

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